# Panorama of Diabetes in the Americas





# Panorama of Diabetes in the Americas

Washington D.C., 2022



Panorama of Diabetes in the Americas

ISBN: 978-92-75-12633-2 (PDF) ISBN: 978-92-75-12634-9 (Print version)

#### © Pan American Health Organization, 2022

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO license (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO).

Under the terms of this license, this work may be copied, redistributed, and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided the new work is issued using the same or equivalent Creative Commons license and it is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) endorses any specific organization, product, or service. Use of the PAHO logo is not permitted.

**Adaptations:** If this work is adapted, the following disclaimer should be added along with the suggested citation: "This is an adaptation of an original work by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). Views and opinions expressed in the adaptation are the sole responsibility of the author(s) of the adaptation and are not endorsed by PAHO."

**Translations:** If this work is translated, the following disclaimer should be added along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). PAHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation."

**Suggested citation:** Pan American Health Organization. Panorama of Diabetes in the Americas. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2022. Available from: https://doi.org/10.37774/9789275126332.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. Available at: http://iris.paho.org.

**Sales, rights, and licensing:** To purchase PAHO publications, email: sales@paho.org. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, visit: https://www.paho.org/en/publications/permissions-and-licensing.

**Third-party materials:** If material that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures, or images, is reused from this work, it is the user's responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned material or component from this work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers:** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of PAHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city, or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by PAHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by PAHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall PAHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

NMH/NV/2022

### CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vii
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	viii
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	ix
INTRODUCTION	1
THE BURDEN OF DIABETES IN THE AMERICAS	3
Diabetes mortality	3
Premature mortality from noncommunicable diseases	6
Premature deaths due to noncommunicable diseases	6
Unconditional probability of dying from noncommunicable diseases	6
Years of life lost (YLLs) due to diabetes	9
Years lived with disability (YLDs)	11
Disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs)	12
THE PREVALENCE OF DIABETES AND RISK FACTORS	15
Raised blood glucose/diabetes prevalence	15
Risk factor prevalence	17
COMPLICATIONS OF DIABETES	
Diabetic retinopathy	24
Chronic kidney disease	25
Diabetic foot disease	25
DIABETES AND COMORBIDITIES	
Cardiovascular diseases and diabetes	
Tuberculosis and diabetes	27
COVID-19 and diabetes	
NATIONAL CAPACITY FOR DIABETES PREVENTION AND CONTROL: CURRENT STATUS	
National policies and plans for diabetes and NCDs	
National guidelines and protocols	31
Availability of essential drugs and basic technologies	31
Surveillance and monitoring	32
DIABETES IN INDIGENOUS POPULATIONS	
THE CENTURY OF INSULIN	
SUMMARY	
FINAL CONSIDERATIONS	
REFERENCES	
ANNEXES	42
Annex 1. Prevalence of raised fasting blood glucose/diabetes among adults 18+ years, age-standardized, by sex. Trends 1980–2025. Region of the Americas	42

### **FIGURES**

Figure 1. Age-standardized diabetes mellitus death rate trend by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2010-2019.	4
Figure 2. Top 10 countries with the highest age-standardized diabetes mellitus death rates by year. Region of the Americas, 2010-2019	5
Figure 3. Premature deaths due to noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) as a proportion of all NCD deaths by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.	7
Figure 4. Unconditional probability of dying from the four major noncommunicable diseases (cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes mellitus, and chronic respiratory diseases) by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.	8
Figure 5. Age-standardized years of life lost (YLLs) rate (rates per 100 000 population). Region of the Americas, 2000-2019.	9
Figure 6. Age-standardized years of life lost (YLLs) rate due to diabetes by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.	10
Figure 7. Age-standardized years lived with disability (YLDs) rate by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.	12
Figure 8. Age-standardized disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) rate (rates per 100 000 population). Region of the Americas, 2000 and 2019.	13
Figure 9. Age-standardized disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) rate due to diabetes by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.	14
Figure 10. Prevalence of raised fasting blood glucose/diabetes among adults 18+ years, age-standardized, by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2014	16
Figure 11. Prevalence of overweight and obesity (BMI > 25) among adults 18+ years, age-standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2016	17
Figure 12. Prevalence of overweight and obesity among adolescents aged 10-19 years, BMI > +1 standard deviation above the median (crude estimate) (%). Region of the Americas, 2016.	
Figure 13. Prevalence of obesity among adolescents aged 10-19 years, BMI > +2 standard deviations above the median (crude estimate) (%). Region of the Americas, 2016	
Figure 14. Prevalence of insufficient physical activity among adults aged 18+ years, age- standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2016	20
Figure 15. Prevalence of raised blood pressure/hypertension (SBP $\ge$ 140 or DBP $\ge$ 90) among adults aged 18+ years, age-standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2015	21
Figure 16. Prevalence of current tobacco use among persons aged 15 years and older, age-standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2018.	22
Figure 17. Prevalence of current tobacco use among persons aged 13-15 years and older. Region of the Americas.	23

### TABLES

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Panorama of Diabetes in the Americas was prepared by the Department of Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health (NMH) at the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), under the supervision of Dr. Anselm Hennis, Director of NMH. Silvana Luciani, Unit Chief of Noncommunicable Diseases, Violence, and Injury Prevention, was responsible for the overall coordination of the report. Dr. Roberta Caixeta, Dolores Ondarsuhu, Dr. Carolina Chávez, Dr. José Guallar, and Dr. Carmen Antini contributed to preparing the data set for analysis and to preparing and reviewing the report. It was based on an initial literature review and first draft written by Dr. José Guallar and then expanded and written by Dr. Carmen Antini.

### **ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS**

ARDS	acute respiratory distress syndrome
ASDR	age-standardized DALY rate
ASMR	age-standardized mortality rate
ASYDR	age-standardized YLD rate
ASYLR	age-standardized YLL rate
BMI	body mass index
CCS	country capacity survey
DALYs	disability-adjusted life-years
GDP	gross domestic product
GHE	global health estimates
GMF	Global Monitoring Framework
HbA1c	glycosylated hemoglobin
NCDs	noncommunicable diseases
NMH	Department of Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health
РАНО	Pan American Health Organization
PEN	Essential Noncommunicable Disease Interventions for Primary Care
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
USRDS	United States Renal Data System
WHO	World Health Organization
YLD	years of healthy life lost due to disability
YLL	years of life lost due to premature mortality

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

Diabetes is a chronic, metabolic disease with multifactorial causes, characterized by elevated levels of blood glucose. Type 2 diabetes is the most common type, usually occurring in adults, when the body becomes resistant to insulin or does not produce enough. Type 1 diabetes, a less common type, occurs when the pancreas produces little or no insulin by itself. Worldwide, more than 420 million adults are living with diabetes, and in the Region of the Americas an estimated 62 million people are living with the disease. It is the second leading cause of disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) in the Region, and estimates indicate that the burden will continue increasing exponentially in the years to come.

### The burden of diabetes in the Americas

Globally, diabetes mortality has increased 70% since 2000, ranking among the 10 leading causes of death worldwide. In the Americas, 284 049 people died due to diabetes in 2019, with an age-standardized mortality rate of 20.9 per 100 000 population. DALYs due to diabetes and the two components of this indicator, years of life lost due to premature mortality (YLLs) and years of healthy life lost due to disability (YLDs), increased markedly in the Region between 2000 and 2019. These changes positioned diabetes as the second leading cause of both DALYs and YLDs in 2019 and the seventh leading cause of YLLs.

### The prevalence of diabetes and its risk factors

Globally, the age-standardized prevalence of raised fasting glucose/diabetes doubled in the past 30 years, reaching 8.5% in 2014 (the latest year available for comparable estimates of diabetes prevalence). In the Americas, the age-standardized prevalence was 8.3%. All of the countries in the Region showed an increase in diabetes prevalence between 2000 and 2014, and the projections for each country show that the prevalence will continue to increase until at least 2025.

As with other noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), overweight/obesity and physical inactivity are major risk factors for type 2 diabetes. The prevalence of overweight and obesity has increased in the past decades in almost all countries worldwide, including countries in the Americas. Between 2000 and 2016 (the latest year available for comparable estimates of overweight/obesity prevalence), the age-standardized prevalence of overweight/obesity in adults increased by 17.3% in the Americas. Among adolescents, the situation is alarming, as obesity prevalence increased 60% between 2000 and 2016 and the prevalence of overweight in the Americas was almost double that observed worldwide.

Insufficient physical activity is another important risk factor. Almost 40% of the population in the Americas is insufficiently physically active, with women having a higher agestandardized prevalence (45.2%) than men. Among adolescents in the Americas, 80.7% are insufficiently active, with a prevalence almost unchanged between 2001 and 2016 in most countries.

Raised blood pressure often occurs alongside type 2 diabetes. In the Americas, the agestandardized prevalence of raised blood pressure among adults was 17.6% in 2015 (the latest available year for comparable estimates of raised blood pressure prevalence), and it was higher in men (20.3%) than in women (14.8%).

Tobacco use is another risk factor for noncommunicable diseases, including diabetes. In the Americas, the percentage of the population aged 15 years and over currently using any tobacco product (smoked and/or smokeless tobacco) daily or non-daily varies by country from 5.7% to 44.7%. In adolescents, the rates vary across countries from 6.9% to 25.3%.

#### **Complications from diabetes**

When the hyperglycemic state that characterizes diabetes is sustained over time, longterm vascular complications can arise, which increase the burden associated with this disease and dramatically worsen the quality of life of people with diabetes. Complications from diabetes include diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, diabetic neuropathy, coronary heart disease, peripheral arterial disease, and stroke.

#### **Diabetes and comorbidities**

Cardiovascular diseases are major comorbidities of diabetes and are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in people with diabetes.

Diabetes is a risk factor for various diseases, including tuberculosis. However, the relationship with tuberculosis is characteristically bidirectional and complex, and it threatens to increase the burden of both diabetes and tuberculosis.

Recently, a new relationship has emerged that could grow the burden associated with diabetes and deepen the challenges associated with its prevention and control. International evidence shows that people with diabetes have twice the odds of developing severe COVID-19 disease. At present, diabetes is considered both a risk factor for and a condition made worse by SARS-CoV-2 infection. The COVID-19 pandemic also has had a huge impact in terms of the continuity of essential health services for NCDs.

# National capacity for diabetes prevention and control: current status

Successfully addressing the enormous and growing burden of NCDs and their risk factors requires implementing and evaluating evidence-based national multisectoral policies, programs, and plans. Diabetes plans are in place in most countries in the Americas, and services for diagnosis, treatment, and patient follow-up are reported as being generally available in all countries in the Americas. However, despite the existence of these plans and services, major gaps in access and utilization lead to generally high rates of undiagnosed diabetes, poor control, and complications.

### **Diabetes in indigenous populations**

Diabetes is a significant global health challenge, and this challenge is more evident in indigenous populations. International evidence shows high variability in the prevalence of diabetes in indigenous peoples depending on the country and the ethnic group evaluated. This variability is related to individual, structural risk factors, biological and environmental changes, and adoption of unhealthy lifestyles.

### The century of insulin

Diabetes is characterized by a total or relative deficit of insulin, a hormone that regulates blood glucose levels. When people living with diabetes do not have good metabolic control, they can develop health-threatening complications. These complications significantly increase the mortality, costs, and poor quality of life associated with diabetes. Contradicting the vital importance of insulin to those living with diabetes, access is still limited for many people.

### **Final considerations**

This report on diabetes in the Americas highlights the significance of diabetes as a cause of death and disability in the Region and shows that, despite national efforts, the prevalence of the disease continues to increase in all countries. Considering that the Americas has the highest prevalence of overweight, obesity, and physical inactivity globally—all risk factors closely related to diabetes—it is foreseeable that the increasing trend in diabetes prevalence will continue for several years. Countries are making efforts to halt the rise in diabetes by strengthening diagnosis and treatment services and promoting primary prevention policies, but much more is needed in terms of prevention policies and diabetes problem.



# INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is a metabolic disease of multifactorial etiology in which genetic, sociodemographic, and environmental elements interact, together with risk factors such as obesity, physical inactivity, and unhealthy diets. It is characterized by a state of hyperglycemia caused by a total or relative insulin deficiency requiring continuous medical care and multidisciplinary strategies to prevent the development of acute and long-term complications that include cardiovascular disease, neuropathy, retinopathy, nephropathy, amputations, and reduced life expectancy (1-3). There are three main types of diabetes: type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes, and gestational diabetes. Type 2 is the most common, accounting for approximately 90% of cases globally. Today, more than 420 million adults are living with diabetes worldwide. Sixty-two million (14.7%) people live with diabetes in the Americas (2).

In recent decades, the burden of diabetes has increased exponentially, especially in lowand middle-income countries. Currently, diabetes is the second leading cause of disabilityadjusted life-years (DALY)s in the Americas, preceded only by ischemic heart disease. This position places the Americas as the region with the highest number of years of healthy life lost (through either disability or premature death) due to diabetes worldwide. In the rest of the World Health Organization (WHO) Regions, diabetes ranges from fourth (EURO Region) to 14th (AFRO Region) as a cause of DALYs (4).

In addition to the burden of disease, diabetes and its complications can seriously affect the quality of life of people living with diabetes, their families, and society in general, along with causing an overload for health systems. The high costs associated with its treatment produce a heavy economic burden for individuals and threaten to hinder nations' social and economic development. According to estimates, direct medical and indirect costs of diabetes will translate into estimated losses in gross domestic product (GDP) worldwide of US\$ 1.7 trillion between 2011 and 2030 (5). Under a conservative assumption that the evolution of diabetes prevalence is determined only by changes in demography and urbanization, the direct and indirect predicted cost of diabetes would reach US\$ 2.25 trillion in 2030, equivalent to 1.9% of the global GDP.

However, if estimated mean annual change rates in age- and sex-specific prevalence of and mortality from diabetes between 1990 and 2015 are considered, the total cost rises to US\$ 2.48 trillion (2.2% of the global GDP) (6). In Latin America and the Caribbean, the estimated total cost in 2015 fluctuated between US\$ 103 billion and US\$ 124 billion, representing a six- to seven-fold increase in the total cost from 2000. The highest estimated cost was for Brazil (US\$ 37 billion to US\$ 43 billion), while the lowest estimated cost was for Grenada (US\$ 39 million to US\$ 42 million). According to these estimates, the average annual cost of treating one case of diabetes ranged from US\$ 540 in Guyana to US\$ 4979 in Puerto Rico (7).

Since 2011, the world has come together to tackle noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) including diabetes, as evidenced by the various political declarations and initiatives. In the Political Declarations of the High-Level Meetings of the United Nations General Assembly on

Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases, held initially in 2011 and with followup meetings in 2014 and 2018 (8-10), Member States pledged to establish and strengthen national multisectoral actions for prevention and control of NCDs. The WHO Global Action Plan for the prevention and control of NCDs provides a roadmap for countries to respond to the burden of NCDs (11). Its actualization was discussed more recently in response to the mid-term evaluation, designing the roadmap 2023–2030 for the Global Action Plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013-2030.

The Action Plan of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) proposes regional and local actions to address this group of diseases by strengthening the achievements and existing capacities in the Region along four strategic lines: policies and multisectoral alliances for the prevention and control of NCDs, risk factors and protective factors for NCDs, the response of health systems to NCDs and their risk factors, and surveillance and investigation of NCDs (*12*). More recently, in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, Member States set a target to reduce by one-third premature mortality from NCDs – including diabetes – through prevention and treatment and to promote mental health and well-being (*13*).

Despite these political commitments and the global target to halt the rise of diabetes and obesity, interventions addressing diabetes through effective healthy lifestyle policies; access to quality health care, essential medicines, and technologies; and self-management support have been insufficient. Considering the aging population and the prevalence of unhealthy lifestyles, it is more urgent now than ever to halt the rise in diabetes by strengthening country responses.

This report provides a panorama of the diabetes situation in the Americas region. It presents data from various sources on key indicators including diabetes mortality, prevalence, and national responses to diabetes and highlights critical issues of our time such as diabetes and COVID-19, diabetes in indigenous populations, and access to insulin 100 years after its discovery. To ensure the comparability of the data included in this report, they are mainly based on WHO's Global Health Estimates (GHE 2000–2019) and the NCD Country Capacity Survey (NCD CCS) (14-16).

This report is organized into eight parts. Part one covers the burden of diabetes and includes mortality, premature mortality, years of life lost prematurely, years of life lived with disability, and disability-adjusted life years. Part two provides data on the prevalence of high blood glucose/diabetes levels and related risk factors (overweight, obesity, insufficient physical activity, high blood pressure, tobacco). Part three is dedicated to data on complications of diabetes (retinopathy, chronic kidney disease, and diabetic foot disease). Part four contains information on comorbidities of diabetes (cardiovascular disease, tuberculosis, and COVID-19). Part five includes information on countries' responses with respect to diabetes prevention and control, including national policies and plans for diabetes, and NCDs, the availability and use of national guidelines and protocols for diabetes, the availability of essential drugs and basic technologies for treatment and diagnosis of diabetes, and national capacities in terms of surveillance and monitoring of diabetes. Part six focuses on diabetes in indigenous populations; part seven covers aspects of the centenary since the discovery of insulin; and part eight offers final reflections.

## THE BURDEN OF DIABETES IN THE AMERICAS

### **Diabetes mortality**

Globally, NCDs are the leading causes of death, accounting for 73.6% of deaths worldwide in 2019. Mortality from diabetes has increased by 70.0% since 2000, ranking among the 10 leading causes of death worldwide. Increases have been higher in men (80%) and in lowerand middle-income countries, in which diabetes moved from the 15th to the ninth leading cause of death (*17*).

In the Region of the Americas, NCDs – principally cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, and chronic respiratory diseases – are responsible for 81.3% of all deaths. In 2019, diabetes was the underlying cause of 284 049 deaths, equivalent to 4% of total deaths (male: 3.7%; female: 4.3%) (*18*). In addition, diabetes was a related cause of deaths due to other diseases associated with raised blood glucose levels, notably cardiovascular diseases, chronic kidney disease, and tuberculosis (*2*).

In 2019, the age-standardized mortality rate (ASMR) from diabetes (excluding chronic kidney disease due to diabetes) in the Americas reached 20.9 per 100 000 population (male: 23.1 per 100 000 population; female: 18.9 per 100 000 population). An analysis of the ASMR by country reveals notable differences. The highest ASMRs are seen in Guyana (82.6 per 100 000 population), Mexico (71.8 per 100 000 population), and Trinidad and Tobago (69.6 per 100 000 population). As a counterpart, the lowest ASMRs are observed in Colombia (9.1 per 100 000 population), Cuba (8.5 per 100 000 population), and Canada (7.2 per 100 000 population).

In men, the countries with extreme ASMRs are Trinidad and Tobago (84.8 per 100 000 population), Guyana (78.3 per 100 000 population), and Mexico (77.9 per 100 000 population) at the upper end and Colombia (9.1 per 100 000 population), Cuba (8.5 per 100 000 population), and Canada (7.2 per 100 000 population) at the lower end. In women, Haiti (91.7 per 100 000 population), Guyana (86.0 per 100 000 population), and Jamaica (71.2 per 100 000 population) have the highest ASMRs, while Argentina (8.9 per 100 000 population), the United States of America (7.9 per 100 000 population), and Canada (5.0 per 100 000 population) have the lowest ASMRs (19).

The relative variation of the ASMR from diabetes between 2000 and 2019 also shows notable differences across countries (Figure 1). Costa Rica exhibits the highest difference between the two years, reaching 70.5% in the male ASMR (2000: 8.4 per 100 000 population; 2019: 14.4 per 100 000 population) and 52.1% in the female ASMR (2000: 9.9 per 100 000 population; 2019: 15.1 per 100 000 population), followed by Honduras and Suriname in the male ASMR (30.4% and 29.9%, respectively) , and by Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of) and Suriname in the female ASMR (21.7% and 21.6%, respectively) (*19*).

Figure 1. Age-standardized diabetes mellitus death rate trend by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2010–2019.

ntigua and Barbuda			Guyana		
rgentina			Haiti		
ahamas			Honduras		
		·····			
arbados			Jamaica		
ardados					
elize			Mexico		
olivia (Plurinational S	State of)		Nicaragua		
				·····	
Brazil			Panama		
of dZII			Fallallia		
Canada			Paraguay		
hile			Peru		
Colombia			Saint Lucia		
Costa Rica			Saint Vincent and The	e Grenadin	
<b></b>			Suriname		
			Jumanie		
ominican Republic			Trinidad and Tobago		
cuador			United States of Ame	rica	
l Salvador			Uruguay		
					<b></b>
Grenada			Venezuela (Bolivaria	n Republic of)	
	11				
Guatemala					
			2010 2015 2020 Year	2010 2015 2020 Year	2010 2015 2 Year
			i Cai	i cai	i cai

When observing the countries with the highest rates during the last decade, it can be seen that they remain practically unchanged. In the case of the male ASMR, the top positions are occupied by Trinidad and Tobago, Guyana, Mexico, Grenada, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines. In the case of the female ASMR, these positions are occupied by Haiti, Guyana, Jamaica, Guatemala, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, and Grenada (Figure 2) (19).

MALE 2018 2017 2015 2012 2011 2010 2016 2014 2013 2019 Trinidad and Tobago Grenada Guyana Guyana Guyana Guyana Guyana Guyana Guyana Guyana Guyana Mexico Mexico Mexico Mexico Mexico Mexico Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Grenada Guyana Mexico Grenada Grenada Grenada Grenada Grenada Mexico Mexico Mexico Saint Vincent a the Grenadine: Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Suriname Saint Lucia Saint Lucia Guatemala Guatemala Guatemala Guatemala Guatemala Guatemala Saint Lucia Guatemala Saint Lucia Saint Lucia Saint Lucia Grenada Saint Lucia Suriname Grenada Jamaica Guatemala Guatemala Suriname Suriname Jamaica Saint Lucia Grenada Saint Lucia Guatemala Jamaica Jamaica Jamaica Jamaica Jamaica Suriname Jamaica Surinar Jamaica Saint Lucia Belize Belize Belize Belize Suriname Jamaica Suriname Suriname Venezuela (Bolivariar Belize Venezuela (Bolivarian Belize Belize Belize Belize Republic of) Republic of) FEMALE 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 Haiti Guyana Jamaica Jamaica Guatemala Guatemala Guatemala Guatemala Grenada Grenada Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Saint Vincent and he Grenadines Saint Vincent and he Grenadine Guatemala Guatemala Jamaica Jamaica Jamaica Saint Vincent and Grenada Grenada Trinidad and Tobago Mexico Mexico Mexico Mexico Trinidad and Tobago Grenada Guatemala Trinidad and Tobago Trinidad and Tobago Guatemala Grenada Grenada Trinidad and Tobago Mexico Jamaica Trinidad and Tobago Guatemala Guatemala Belize Antigua and Belize Trinidad and Tobago Grenada Grenada Grenada Trinidad and Tobago Belize Belize Belize Saint Vincent a Saint Lucia Belize Trinidad and Tobago Mexico Mexico Jamaica Jamaica Mexico Trinidad and Tobago Saint Lucia Belize Belize Belize Belize .lamaica Mexico Mexico .lamaica Saint Lucia

**Figure 2.** Top 10 countries with the highest age-standardized diabetes mellitus death rates by year. Region of the Americas, 2010–2019.

Source: Pan American Health Organization. Monitoring the level and trends of the burden of diabetes mellitus in the Region of the Americas, 2000–2019. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2021.

### Premature mortality from noncommunicable diseases

#### Premature deaths due to noncommunicable diseases

Each year, NCDs are among the leading causes of death in people aged below 70 years worldwide. In 2019, 41.8% of all NCD deaths were premature deaths. In men, this proportion rises to 47.2%. In the Americas, the situation is similar: 36.5% of all NCD deaths occur before people's 70th birthday (male: 41.4%; female: 31.3%), with differences across countries. Thirty countries exceed the regional value, with Haiti (56.9%), The Bahamas (54.9%), and Guatemala (53.1%) showing the highest proportions, and Barbados (27.7%), Uruguay (26.7%), and Canada (26%) the lowest. In 2000, only 25 countries had a proportion higher than the regional figure (*19, 20*).

In 2019, more than half of all NCD deaths among men in seven countries (Haiti, The Bahamas, Guatemala, Guyana, Suriname, Belize, and Paraguay) occurred before the age of 70 years. In contrast, only three countries exceed this value for women (Haiti, The Bahamas, and Guatemala) (Figure 3) (19, 21).

#### Unconditional probability of dying from noncommunicable diseases

The unconditional probability of dying between the ages of 30 and 70 years is the indicator established in the Global Monitoring Framework (GMF) and the Indicator Framework for the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to assess premature mortality from the four primary NCDs (*21*). This indicator quantifies the risk of a person dying between the age of 30 to 70 years from the main NCDs (cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes, and chronic respiratory diseases).

Globally, the estimated unconditional probability of dying in 2000 was 22.9%, with a marked difference by sex (male: 27.5%; female: 18.3%). In 2019, the probabilities decreased in both sexes, but the risk of dying from the four main NCDs was still approximately 50% higher in men than women (male: 21.4%; female: 14.2%) (20).

The same scenario can be observed in the Americas. In 2019, a 30-year-old man had a 16.4% chance of dying from any of the four major NCDs before reaching his 70th birthday, a probability 22.9% lower than in 2000 (21.3%). The chance decreased by 22.8% among women, from 15.3% in 2000 to 11.8% in 2019. However, in both years, the risk of dying prematurely was 40% higher in men than women (*19*).

At the country level, 24 countries exhibit a risk of premature death higher than the regional value (14%) among both men and women, with an unconditional probability of dying ranging from 9.9% in Peru to 32.1% in Guyana among men, and from 8% in Canada to 32.6% in Haiti among women. In 2000, only 14 countries exceeded the regional risk value in men and 17 in women (Figure 4).





**Figure 4.** Unconditional probability of dying from the four major noncommunicable diseases (cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes mellitus, and chronic respiratory diseases) by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.



**Source:** Pan American Health Organization. Monitoring the premature mortality from the four major noncommunicable diseases (cardiovascular diseases, cancer, diabetes mellitus, and chronic respiratory diseases) in the Region of the Americas, 2000–2019. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2021.

### Years of life lost (YLLs) due to diabetes

Another valuable measure to assess the impact of NCDs (and other diseases) on mortality in a population is years of life lost prematurely (YLLs). Its calculation method combines the frequency of deaths and the age at which they occur. Years of life lost prematurely due to NCDs are a proportion of the total YLLs lost in the population due to premature mortality (22).

Globally, the absolute number of YLLs due to NCDs has increased in the last two decades, from 790 853 YLLs (38.2% of total YLLs) in 2000 to 923 598 YLLs (54.1% of total YLLs) in 2019. Diabetes exhibits a similar pattern. Diabetes was responsible for 21 457 664 YLLs (1.0% of total YLLs) in 2000, rising to 34 171 016 YLLs (2.0% of total YLLs) in 2019. This increase moved diabetes to the 13th leading cause of YLLs; in 2000, diabetes was not among the top 20 causes (4).

In the Americas, the 2019 age-standardized YLL rate (ASYLR) due to diabetes (excluding chronic kidney disease due to diabetes) was 4% lower than the equivalent in 2000 (2019: 499.5 per 100 000 population; 2000: 520.2 per 100 000 population). Despite this decrease, ASYLR from diabetes positioned as the eighth highest in 2019, whereas it was in the tenth position in 2000 (Figure 5). In women, the difference between the two years reached 13.0% (2000: 509.4 per 100 000 population; 2019: 443.1 per 100 000 population). However, the ASYLR in men increased 5.6% from 532.6 per 100 000 population in 2000 to 561.5 per 100 000 population in 2019. Central America, Mexico, and the Latin Caribbean displayed the highest increase in the male ASYLR: 33.2% (2000: 1040.9 per 100 000 population; 2019: 1386.1 per 100 000 population) (19).

	2000	2019	
Ischemic heart disease	2,238.8	1,465.2	
Neonatal conditions	2 1,718.5	2 1,063.3	
Interpersonal violence	3 1,108.1	<b>3</b> 937.0	
Stroke	4 1,010.2	4 714.0	
Lower respiratory infections	<b>5</b> 956.3	<b>5</b> 649.3	
Road injuries	6 875.8	<b>6</b> 597.5	
Congenital anomalies	7 742.1	540.8	
Trachea, bronchus, lung cancer	8 664.0 —	→ 8 499.5	
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	9 642.5	9 434.5	
Diabetes mellitus	520.2	432.3 Self-harm	
	12		

Figure 5. Age-standardized years of life lost (YLLs) rate (rates per 100 000 population). Region of the Americas, 2000-2019.

Source: Pan American Health Organization. Burden of Diabetes Mellitus. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/enlace/burden-diabetes-mellitus

The countries with the highest ASYLR in 2019 were Guyana (1957.3 per 100 000 population), Haiti (1710.0 per 100 000 population), and Mexico (1652.7 per 100 000 population). In line with a longer life expectancy at birth and lower mortality from diabetes, the ASYLR was higher in women. Haiti (2337.4 per 100 000 population), Guyana (2032.3 per 100 000 population), and Guatemala (1696.1 per 100 000 population) had the highest female ASYLR from diabetes in 2019. In the case of the male ASYLR, Trinidad and Tobago (1886.6 per 100 000 population), Guyana (1874.5 per 100 000 population), and Mexico (1857.6 per 100 000 population) exhibited the highest rates (Figure 6) (19).

Figure 6. Age-standardized years of life lost (YLLs) rate due to diabetes by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.



### Years lived with disability (YLDs)

As with YLLs, years lived with disability (YLDs) are a valuable measure for quantifying the impact of NCDs on a population. One YLD represents the equivalent of one full year of healthy life lost due to disability or poor health, in this case caused by diabetes. Its calculation method combines the prevalence of the non-fatal condition and the weight of the disability that this condition generates (22).

According to WHO estimates, the absolute numbers of YLDs due to diabetes (excluding chronic kidney disease) doubled worldwide in the last two decades, from 17 024 YLDs (2.8% of total YLDs) in 2000 to 36 240 YLDs (4.4% of total YLDs) in 2019. This increase moved diabetes from the ninth leading cause of YLDs in 2000 to the fourth leading cause in 2019 (according to WHO data). The Americas follows the same pattern. In 2000, diabetes was responsible for 3123 YLDs (3.5% of total YLDs), ranking as the fifth leading cause of YLDs. In 2019, YLDs reached 7188 (5.8% of total YLDs), positioning diabetes as the second leading cause in the Region, preceded only by back and neck pain (4).

Regionally, the 2019 age-standardized YLD rate (ASYDR) due to diabetes was 44% higher than the rate in 2000 (2000: 404.2 per 100 000 population; 2019: 582.2 per 100 000 population). The difference in the male rate between these two years reaches 47.8% (2000: 425.8 per 100 000 population; 2019: 630.6 per 100 000 population). The difference in the female rate is 40.1% (2000: 386.4 per 100 000 population; 2019: 540.3 per 100 000 population) (*19*).

The ASYDR due to diabetes shows notable differences across countries. In 2019, the highest male rates were in Trinidad and Tobago (1163.8 per 100 000 population), Guyana (1063.5 per 100 000 population), and Suriname (1055.8 per 100 000 population), while the highest female rates were in Saint Lucia (1210.9 per 100 000 population), Guyana (1081.3 per 100 000 population), and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines (1042.3 per 100 000 population).

By contrast, Peru (male: 326.4 per 100 000 population; female: 329.1 per 100 000 population), Canada (male: 334.3 per 100 000 population; female: 271.1 per 100 000 population), and Uruguay (male: 341.3 per 100 000 population; female: 252.6 per 100 000 population) had the lowest rates in both men and women. An analysis of the relative difference between the 2000 and 2019 rates reveals worrying results. Uruguay, the United States of America, and the Dominican Republic exhibit the largest differences in men and women, with increases reaching 189.5%, 68.1%, and 66.2% in men and 92.4%, 69.4%, and 60.3% in women, respectively (Figure 7) (*19*).

Figure 7. Age-standardized years lived with disability (YLDs) rate by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.



Source: World Health Organization. WHO Global Health Observatory. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho

#### **Disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs)**

Disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) is a time-based measure of the burden of disease on a specific population and reflects its health status. It combines years of life lost due to premature mortality (YLLs) and years of life lost due to time lived in states of less than full health, or years of healthy life lost due to disability (YLDs) (22). Globally, the number of DALYs due to diabetes (excluding chronic kidney disease due to diabetes) increased by 82.9% between 2000 and 2019, from 38.5 million to 70.4 million. In the Americas, the increase in the number of DALYs was 87.5% (2000: 7.2 million; 2019: 13.4 million), reaching 96.5% in men (4). The age-standardized DALY rate (ASDR) shows a sustained rise over the same period, from 924.5 per 100 000 population in 2000 to 1081.8 per 100 000 population in 2019. This change positioned diabetes as the fourth leading cause of DALYs in 2019, whereas it was in seventh position in 2000 (Figure 8). The three countries with the highest ASDR due to diabetes in 2019 were Guyana (3029.1 per 100 000 population), Trinidad and Tobago (2654.5 per 100 000 population), and Mexico (2582.2 per 100 000 population) (19).

In line with a longer life expectancy at birth and lower direct mortality from diabetes, the ASDR is higher in women, with maximum values of 3307.8 per 100 000 population in Haiti, 3113.5 per 100 000 population in Guyana, and 2532.0 per 100 000 population in Guatemala. Although the male ASDR is lower than the female ASDR, the increase between 2000 and 2019 was more pronounced in men, with a relative difference of 24.5% between the extreme years of the period (2000: 957.4 per 100 000 population; 2019: 1192.1 per 100 000 population). In women, this difference was only 9.8% (2000: 895.8 per 100 000 population; 2019: 983.4 per 100 000 population) (Figure 9) (19).

**Figure 8.** Age-standardized disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) rate (rates per 100 000 population). Region of the Americas, 2000 and 2019.



Source: Pan American Health Organization. Leading causes of death, and disability. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/enlace/leading-causes-death-and-disability

**Figure 9.** Age-standardized disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) rate due to diabetes by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2019.



## THE PREVALENCE OF DIABETES AND RISK FACTORS

### Raised blood glucose/diabetes prevalence

The prevalence of raised blood glucose/diabetes in adults is the percentage of the population aged 18 years and older who have a fasting plasma glucose level of 7.0 mmol/L or higher, a history of a diabetes diagnosis, or a history of use of insulin or oral hypoglycemic drugs. These data are derived from population-based health examination surveys and provided by countries to WHO or obtained through reviews of published and unpublished literature (21). The latest available year for comparable estimates of diabetes prevalence is 2014; although countries may have more recent data available, the comparable estimates are used for the purposes of this regional report and to compare countries.

Globally, the age-standardized prevalence of raised fasting glucose/diabetes nearly doubled over 30 years, from 4.7% in 1980 to 8.5% in 2014, which reflects an increase in the number of people living with diabetes from 108 million to 422 million (2). In the Americas, the agestandardized prevalence of raised fasting blood glucose ( $\geq$ 7.0 mmol/L) is estimated as 8.3%, with only a small difference between men (8.5%) and women (8.1%). Saint Kitts and Nevis and Saint Lucia show the highest age-standardized prevalence in the Region (14.5% in both countries), followed by Belize (12.5%). In contrast, the countries with the lowest prevalence are Canada (5.5%), the United States of America (7.3%), and Peru (7.7%) (Figure 10). In 20 countries of the Region, the prevalence of diabetes in women is greater than 10%, with a difference of 11.5 percentage points between the countries with the highest and lowest prevalence (Saint Kitts and Nevis: 16.3%; Canada: 4.8%). Only eight countries have a prevalence above 10% among men; the difference between the countries with extreme values is smaller as well (Saint Lucia: 13.7%; Canada: 6.2%) (19).

All of the countries in the Region showed an increase in the standardized prevalence of diabetes between 2000 and 2014 (Annex 1), and the projections for each country indicate that this increase will continue until at least 2025. The largest increases have been observed in Saint Lucia (90.3%), Trinidad and Tobago (73.3%), and Antigua and Barbuda (52.3%) in men and Saint Lucia (65.9%), Trinidad and Tobago (60.5%), and Haiti (54.4%) in women (19).

**Figure 10.** Prevalence of raised fasting blood glucose/diabetes among adults 18+ years, age-standardized, by sex and country. Region of the Americas, 2014



### **Risk factor prevalence**

The burden associated with diabetes is closely related to the prevalence of risk factors related to this disease. Overweight, defined as a body mass index (BMI) between 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and 29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and obesity, defined as a BMI above 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (*21*), are the main risk factors for Type 2 diabetes. Overweight and obesity prevalence has been increasing in almost all countries worldwide. In the Americas, the age-standardized prevalence of overweight and obesity has increased by 17.3%, from 53.3% in 2000 to 62.5% in 2016. The regional overweight and obesity prevalence is higher among men (64.1%) than women (60.9%). However, women have a higher prevalence of overweight and obesity in almost all countries, with men having a higher prevalence in only five countries. The high proportion of overweight and obesity in the Region, along with the increase in the prevalence of raised blood glucose/diabetes in adults, calls attention to the urgent need to focus public health interventions on diabetes prevention (*19*).

Figure 11. Prevalence of overweight and obesity (BMI > 25) among adults 18+ years, age-standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2016.



The prevalence of overweight and obesity among children and adolescents aged 10 to 19 years is alarming. In 2016, 17.3% of 10 to 19-year-olds worldwide were overweight, defined as a BMI more than one standard deviation above the median for their age and sex. This is an increase of 74.7% since 2000 (9.9%). There was a substantial increase of 82.7% among boys/men between 2000 (9.8%) and 2016 (17.9%); among girls/women, the increase was 66% between 2000 (10%) and 2016 (16.6%) (23).

In the Americas, the situation is more serious than at the global level. In 2016, the prevalence of overweight in adolescents of both sexes reached 31.7%, almost double that observed worldwide, increasing 32.1% relative to 2000 (24.0%). By sex, the regional rate shows little difference in both 2000 (male rate: 23.5%; female rate: 24.5%) and 2016 (male rate: 32.3%; female rate: 31%); however, the increase between 2000 and 2016 is notably higher in men (men: 37.4%; women: 26.5%). The United States of America has the highest prevalence of overweight in both years at the country level, both in men (2016: 43.3%, 2000: 35.8%) and in women (2016: 39.1%, 2000: 34.3%). Argentina has the second-highest rate in the male population (2016: 38.6%, 2000: 28.0%), Chile (35.5%) and Canada (27.6%) have the third position in 2016 and 2000, respectively. In women, Mexico shows the second highest rate in 2016 (34.4%), followed by Bahamas (33.9%) (Figure 12) (19).

**Figure 12.** Prevalence of overweight and obesity among adolescents aged 10-19 years, BMI > +1 standard deviation above the median (crude estimate) (%). Region of the Americas, 2016.



The situation regarding obesity among adolescents (defined as a BMI more than two standard deviations above the age and sex median) is worrisome (21). Globally, the prevalence in 2016 (5.6%) was 133.3% higher than that observed in 2000 (2.4%). This difference reaches 140.7% in men (2000: 2.7%; 2016: 6.5%) and 123.8% in women (2000: 2.1%; 2016: 4.7%) (23). In the Americas, the increase between 2000 and 2016 (60%) is less pronounced. However, regional rates of obesity in adolescents are between two and two and a half times higher than rates worldwide, reaching 14% in 2016 in men and 11.5% in women (*19, 24*).

The highest obesity prevalence in men is observed in the United States of America (22.3%), Argentina (18.3%), and The Bahamas (15.7%) in 2016, as was the case in 2000 (United States of America: 16.7%; Argentina: 11.2%; The Bahamas: 9.4%). Among women, the highest obesity prevalence is in the United States of America (19%), with a rate that is almost four times higher than the world obesity prevalence in females. This is followed by The Bahamas (14.9%), where the female obesity prevalence is almost three times the world rate (5.6%) (Figure 13) (19).

Country 12.80 United States of America Bahamas Argentina Chile Mexico Dominica Dominican Republic Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of) Suriname Uruquav Jamaica Canada 610 Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Saint Kitts and Nevis Costa Rica Barbados Belize El Salvador Antigua and Barbuda Cuba Trinidad and Tobago Nicaragua Grenada Haiti Paraguay Panama Brazil Sex Guyana Both sexes Guatemala Female Honduras Ecuador Male Bolivia (Plurinational State of) Saint Lucia 12.80 Peru Colombia 6 5 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 Prevalence (%)

**Figure 13.** Prevalence of obesity among adolescents aged 10–19 years, BMI > +2 standard deviations above the median (crude estimate) (%). Region of the Americas, 2016.

Insufficient physical activity is another risk factor related to diabetes and other NCDs. According to 2016 estimates, almost 40% of the population in the Americas is insufficiently physically active, a rate considerably higher than that observed worldwide (27.5%); women, in whom the age-standardized prevalence reaches 45.2%, are more likely than men to be insufficiently active. Brazil (47%), Costa Rica (46.1%), and Suriname (44.4%) are the countries in which physical inactivity is most prevalent, while Chile (26.6%), Uruguay (22.4%), and Dominica (21.7%) have the lowest prevalence of physical inactivity (Figure 14) (19).

Among adolescents in the Americas, 80.7% are insufficiently physically active, with a prevalence almost unchanged between 2001 and 2016 in most countries. Countries with the highest rates among women, and with rates almost unchanged between 2001 and 2016, include Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of) (2001: 92.6%; 2016: 92.9%), Chile (2001: 90.9%; 2016: 91.2%), Ecuador (2001: 89.6%; 2016: 90.0%), and Argentina (2001: 89.7%; 2016: 89.6%). In men, the highest rates are observed in Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of) (2001: 83.9%; 2016: 84.8%), Guatemala (2001: 83.9%; 2016: 84.5%), and Chile (2001: 83.9%; 2016: 84.2%) (*19*).

**Figure 14.** Prevalence of insufficient physical activity among adults aged 18+ years, age-standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2016.



In 2015, the age-standardized prevalence of raised blood pressure in adults (defined as systolic blood pressure [SBP] and/or diastolic blood pressure [DBP]  $\geq$  140/90 mmHg) (21) was estimated as 22.1% worldwide, with a higher prevalence in men (24.1%) than in women (20.1%) (23). In the Americas, the prevalence was 17.6%, and as observed worldwide raised blood pressure was more prevalent in men (20.3%) than in women (14.8%). The countries with the extreme prevalence values were Saint Lucia (27.1%), Trinidad and Tobago (25.8%), and Saint Kitts and Nevis (25.3%) at the upper end and Peru (13.7%), Canada (13.2%), and the United States of America (12.9%) at the lower end. With respect to prevalence according to sex, the highest values for men were in Saint Lucia (29.9%), Saint Kitts and Nevis (27.9%), and Paraguay (27.8%), while the highest values for women were in Saint Lucia (24.4%), Trinidad and Tobago (23.9%), and Haiti (23.7%) (Figure 15) (19).

**Figure 15.** Prevalence of raised blood pressure/hypertension (SBP  $\ge$  140 or DBP  $\ge$  90) among adults aged 18+ years, age-standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2015



Tobacco use is an important risk factor for NCDs, including diabetes, and is responsible for more than 8 million deaths globally (25). The percentage of the population aged 15 years and over currently using any tobacco product (smoked and/or smokeless tobacco) daily or non-daily varies greatly by country and by sex in the Americas, with no improvement since 2007 (26). Chile and Cuba had the highest age-standardized tobacco use prevalence in both 2007 (49.6% and 37.8%, respectively) and 2018 (44.7% and 27.1%, respectively). Argentina, the country with the third-highest prevalence (34.1%) in 2007, fell to the fourth position (21.8%) in 2018, behind the United States of America (25.1%). Chile had the highest male and female prevalence, with values markedly higher than in the other countries evaluated. The Chilean female prevalence of current tobacco use was 45.6% in 2007 and 40.3% in 2018. The country with the second-highest female prevalence was Argentina (26.9%) in 2007 and the United States of America (19.3%) in 2018. The Chilean male prevalence of current tobacco use reached 53.5% in 2007 and 49.2% in 2018. Cuba also had a high prevalence of male tobacco use (2007: 51.4%; 2018: 39.7%) (Figure 16) (19, 26).

**Figure 16.** Prevalence of current tobacco use among persons aged 15 years and older, age-standardized estimates. Region of the Americas, 2018.



Tobacco prevalence rates in youth 13–15 years of age can be used to estimate future trends in tobacco use globally and nationally. Reports from surveys among adolescents from 177 countries in the 2008–2018 decade (Global Youth Smoking Survey, Global School-Based Student Health Survey, and School-Age Health Behavior Survey) reveal that at least 43.8 million adolescents between 13 and 15 years of age worldwide consume some form of tobacco; this is equivalent to an average tobacco consumption rate of approximately 12%, reaching 16% in boys and 8% in girls (26).

In the Americas, the difference between boys and girls is smaller; 13.4% of boys and 11.7% of girls use tobacco. These results position the Americas, together with Europe, within the regions that have the highest average rates. In the 2008–2018 period, 22 (65.6%) of 32 countries in the Region had a prevalence of tobacco use in adolescents higher than 10%. When rates are analyzed at the country level, the results are alarming. Dominica (25.3%), Argentina, and Colombia (20.2% in both countries) have the highest average rates, while the Dominican Republic (7.4%), Peru (7.2%), and Brazil (6.9%) have the lowest. When analyzed by sex, the rates in boys increase to 30.4% in Dominica and 21.6% in Mexico. In girls, the rates reach 21.4% in Argentina and 19.8% in Dominica (Figure 17) (*19*).



Figure 17. Prevalence of current tobacco use among persons aged 13–15 years and older. Region of the Americas.

## **COMPLICATIONS OF DIABETES**

When the hyperglycemic state that characterizes diabetes is sustained over time, long-term vascular complications can occur, which increase the burden associated with the disease and dramatically worsen the quality of life of people with diabetes. In general terms, diabetes complications can be classified as microvascular complications (when the vascular damage is in the small blood vessels) and macrovascular complications (when the damage is in the arteries). Diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, and diabetic neuropathy are the main microvascular complications, while coronary heart disease, peripheral artery disease, and stroke are the primary macrovascular complications (*2, 27*).

Data on the prevalence and incidence of complications associated with diabetes are scarce. Where studies have been published, results show high variability between countries, highlighting the need to strengthen surveillance and promote research on diabetes complications (2, 11, 12, 28).

### **Diabetic retinopathy**

Diabetic retinopathy is a specific and common microvascular complication of diabetes and the leading cause of acquired blindness among people aged 20 to 74 years (29, 30). Risk factors include diabetes duration, chronic hyperglycemia, nephropathy, hypertension, and dyslipidemia. In addition, several studies suggest that pregnancy may aggravate retinopathy in women with type 1 diabetes, especially when glycemic control is deficient at the time of conception (30). Higher retinopathy rates have been reported in the Caucasian population, among people with type 1 diabetes, and possibly among people in lower socioeconomic groups (2).

The prevalence of blindness due to diabetic retinopathy was 2.6% globally in 2010. However, an analysis of 35 population-based studies in 2016 showed that the overall age-standardized prevalence of any retinopathy in individuals with diabetes was 34.6%, while the prevalence values for the particularly severe disease stages that threaten vision, proliferative retinopathy, and diabetic macular edema, were 6.96% and 6.81%, respectively. This led to the estimation that 92.6 million adults had any diabetic retinopathy (*2*, *31*).

The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy shows varied results across ethnic groups and countries. A population-based study of 4774 Mexican Americans with diabetes revealed a prevalence of diabetic retinopathy of 48% and a prevalence of moderate to severe non-proliferative and proliferative retinopathy of 32%. This contrasts with the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy of 35% in a Caucasian cohort from the United States of America (*31, 32*).

Despite the dramatic consequences of diabetic retinopathy, early treatment can reduce an individual's risk of severe visual loss by 57%. Unfortunately, early screening and prompt treatment services are largely unavailable, especially in middle- and low-income countries.
Considering the expected rise in diabetes in the coming years, it is necessary to ensure access to health services for adequate diabetes management, including prevention and management of diabetes complications (29).

#### Chronic kidney disease

Chronic kidney disease is one of the principal complications of diabetes worldwide, affecting between 12% and 55% of people with this condition, with an incidence up to 10 times as high as among those without diabetes. It may be present at the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes or until 10 years post-diagnosis in type 1 diabetes, and, similar to other microvascular complications of diabetes, it is heavily associated with blood glucose control and can progress to end-stage renal disease requiring dialysis or kidney transplantation (*2, 27, 30*). According to the United States Renal Data System (USRDS), the prevalence of chronic kidney disease in the United States of America in adults with diabetes was 36.9% in 2018. The incidence of treated end-stage renal disease reached 395 per million population (according to the USRDS). Also, it was reported that glycemic control worsened among people with diabetes and chronic kidney disease from 2003–2006 to 2015–2018 (*33*).

Access to dialysis and renal replacement therapy can influence the prevalence of end-stage renal disease. Unfortunately, such access is highly variable between and within countries in the Americas (2).

#### **Diabetic foot disease**

Diabetic foot disease is a late and frequent complication of diabetes, secondary to diabetic neuropathy and peripheral arterial occlusive disease. It is one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality in people with diabetes. The condition is characterized by foot ulcers with various degrees of destruction of deep tissues and greater susceptibility to infections resulting in soft tissue sepsis. It is the leading cause of lower extremity amputations, and people with diabetes have a 10 to 20 times higher risk of amputation than nondiabetic populations (*2*, *27*, *30*, *34*). The economic burden of diabetic foot disease is significant, with an estimated cost of approximately US\$ 17 500 (in 1998 dollars) to treat a single ulcer and an estimated cost of US\$ 30 000 to US\$ 33 500 for a lower extremity amputation (*35*).

According to the Latin American Diabetes Association, 58.2% of people with diabetes in Brazil have diabetic foot complications, while in Chile 13% require amputations due to foot injuries. Between 2004 and 2005, hospital discharges for diabetic foot and lower extremity amputations increased markedly in Mexico. In Costa Rica, an investigation of a cohort of 572 adults with diabetes with seven years of follow-up revealed that the incidence rate of lower extremity amputations was 6.02 per 1000 person-years (*36*). In the Caribbean, hospital-based studies have shown diabetic foot disease to be an important issue (*37*).

## **DIABETES AND COMORBIDITIES**

#### Cardiovascular diseases and diabetes

Diabetes is often comorbid with a variety of other diseases and conditions, notably cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in people with diabetes (*38, 39*).

The interaction between certain risk factors, such as hypertension, dyslipidemia, and tobacco consumption, dramatically increases cardiovascular disease risk, especially the risk of ischemic heart disease (*38, 40*). However, diabetes itself confers an independent risk that grows continuously with increasing fasting plasma glucose levels, even before levels sufficient for a diagnosis of diabetes are reached. People living with diabetes have a two to five times higher rate of cardiovascular disease (*2, 38, 39*), and people in lower- and middle-income countries are affected to a greater extent (*41*).

In the United States of America, the rate of cardiovascular disease mortality (largely stroke and myocardial infarction) is 1.7 times higher in people living with diabetes than in people without diabetes, with a relative risk of morbidity and mortality between one and three in men and two and five in women (*39*). In Mexico City, a large cohort study in people aged 35 years and older showed that previously diagnosed diabetes at baseline was associated with about four times the death rate from cardiovascular disease relative to adults without diabetes (*41*). These results were ratified in a resurvey assessment of this cohort carried out between 2015 and 2019 that concluded that the excess mortality associated with high systolic blood pressure was substantially greater among individuals with diabetes, especially those with poorly controlled diabetes (*42*).

In Cuba, another large prospective study in a population aged 30 years and older revealed that individuals with previously diagnosed diabetes at baseline had approximately twice the risk of cardiovascular mortality relative to those without diabetes. Cardiovascular mortality showed a strong positive association with systolic blood pressure and body mass index (*43*). These findings are in line with what was reported in the INTERHEART study. This international case-control study enrolled participants from 52 countries, including six from Latin America (Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Guatemala, and Mexico); the results revealed that the population attributable risk of acute myocardial infarction due to diabetes ranged from 7.4 in Colombia to 17 in Brazil (*44*).

The demographic and epidemiological transition experienced by the Americas in past decades has brought about a change in the patterns and trends of the main cardiometabolic risk factors and diseases observed in the population. As reported by the NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, the Americas has an obesity crisis accompanied by heterogeneous patterns of diabetes and high blood pressure (45).

Given the associations of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases, it is important to implement integrated strategies for diabetes management that also address obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, physical inactivity, and tobacco use. Tools available from WHO/PAHO such as the Package of Essential Noncommunicable Disease Interventions for Primary Care (PEN), the HEARTS Technical Package, and HEARTS D: Diagnosis and Management of Type 2 Diabetes offer practical resources to achieve this aim (46–48).

#### **Tuberculosis and diabetes**

Diabetes is a risk factor for various diseases including tuberculosis. However, the relationship with tuberculosis is characteristically bidirectional and complex. Both pathologies increase the risk of the other as well as impair their response to treatment. On the one hand, diabetes increases the susceptibility to infection by Mycobacterium tuberculosis, the bacterium that causes tuberculosis, and the risk of latent infection, relapse, or death. In addition, it reduces the probability of a favorable treatment outcome, including the potential for drug-resistant and multi-resistant tuberculosis. On the other hand, tuberculosis can trigger the onset of diabetes, deteriorate glycemic control in existing diabetes, and interfere with diabetes treatment through drug interactions (49-52).

According to WHO estimates, the five principal health-related risk factors for tuberculosis are diabetes together with malnutrition, alcohol dependency, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) co-infection, and tobacco use (51, 52). The contribution of each of these risk factors varies substantially by country.

Globally, 350 000 incident tuberculosis cases were attributable to diabetes in 2019 (*51*). In the Americas, 46% of new (estimated) tuberculosis cases were attributable to one or more of these risk factors in 2018, and 11 000 (4%) were associated with diabetes (*53*). In the same year, 28 countries reported that 21 135 (10.1%) of the total notified incident tuberculosis cases involved comorbid diabetes, ranging from 2.6% in Panama to 40% in Puerto Rico (*53*).

The two-way relationship between these diseases of epidemic magnitudes threatens to increase the burden of both diabetes and tuberculosis, especially in low- and middle-income countries, and highlights the need to design comprehensive, innovative, and multisectoral strategies for treatment and prevention (49-52). WHO's Collaborative Framework for Care and Control of Tuberculosis and Diabetes provides useful guidance. With the purpose of assisting policymakers, public health practitioners, and clinicians in understanding how to decrease the joint burden of diabetes and tuberculosis, the framework establishes recommendations to guide national programs, clinicians, and others engaged in care of patients and prevention and control of diabetes and tuberculosis (*52, 53*).

#### **COVID-19 and diabetes**

People living with diabetes and other underlying chronic conditions such as hypertension, obesity, and cardiovascular disease have a higher risk of COVID-19 (*54*, *55*). They are twice as likely to develop severe forms of COVID-19, including acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and to require intensive care and use of ventilators; they are also twice as likely to die from COVID-19 (*34*, *56*, *57*). This increased risk persists even in the absence of other comorbidities and would decline with well-controlled blood glucose levels (*56*, *58*). Diabetes is considered both a risk factor for and a condition made worse by SARS-CoV-2 infection (*54*).

People with diabetes require continuous care; however, the COVID-19 pandemic has at times seriously disrupted access to essential health services, including diabetes services. According to a global WHO survey on health service disruptions conducted in 2020 (round 1) and 2021 (round 2), decreased outpatient volume due to patients not presenting, decreased inpatient volume due to cancellation of elective care, and insufficient staff availability (due to deployment to provide COVID-19 relief or other factors) are the most frequent reasons for disruptions in health services (59).

In the Region of the Americas, 52% of countries (28 of 54) responded to the second round of the survey. Service disruptions were reported in 46% of the evaluated services; 23% of disruptions were described as mild, 14% as moderate, and 9% as severe. Noncommunicable disease services were disrupted in more than 40% of countries, including services for management of diabetes and related complications.

Despite the association of diabetes and COVID-19 and the need for continuous, uninterrupted care for people with diabetes, COVID-19 preparedness and response plans do not include diabetes services (60). Integrating diabetes as part of health emergency preparedness and response needs to be considered.

### NATIONAL CAPACITY FOR DIABETES PREVENTION AND CONTROL: CURRENT STATUS

Successfully addressing the enormous and growing burden of NCDs and their risk factors requires implementing and evaluating evidence-based national multisectoral policies, programs, services, and plans. A fundamental part of NCD surveillance is monitoring the progress made in this area. In the last 20 years, WHO/PAHO has periodically conducted a country capacity survey on NCDs to assess national-level responses to NCDs. The NCD Country Capacity Survey (NCD CCS) has been carried out in the Americas region in 2001, 2005, 2010, 2013, 2015, 2017, 2019, and 2021. The survey collects information from ministry of health NCD program managers across four main areas: 1) public health infrastructure, partnerships, and multisectoral collaboration; 2) policies, strategies, and action plans; 3) health information systems, monitoring, surveillance, and surveys; and 4) health system capacity for detection, treatment, and care (*15*).

The information presented below is a summary of the diabetes-related results from the 2021 NCD CCS, in which 35 countries responded (16).

#### National policies and plans for diabetes and NCDs

A national NCD policy/strategy/action plan is recommended, and for diabetes it should be included in the overall NCD policy/strategy/action plan or as a specific diabetes plan for the country to facilitate a coordinated, multisectoral response. In the past NCD CCS, 33 out of 35 countries of the Region reported having an integrated national NCD policy, strategy, or action plan that includes diabetes; however, only 19 countries (54%) reported having an operational NCD plan. Seven (20%) countries reported having a specific national operational policy, plan, or strategy for diabetes (Argentina, Brazil, Cuba, Ecuador, Mexico, Peru, and the United States of America) (Table 1) (*16*).

**Table 1.** Examples of diabetes policies, strategies, or operational plans in countries of the Region of the Americas, 2021

Country	Document title	Electronic reference
Argentina	(a) National Law 23.753/89.	(a) https://bancos.salud.gob.ar/sites/default/ files/2018-10/000000386cnt-2014-02_ley- nacional-diabetes-23753.pdf
	(b) Resolution 301/99. National Diabetes Program (PRONADIA) and standards for the provision of medicines and supplies [in Spanish].	(b) http://servicios.infoleg.gob.ar/infolegInternet/ anexos/55000-59999/57326/norma.htm - :~:text=La Ley Nacional Nº 23.753,Areas técnicas de su dependencia
Brazil	Law 13.895 Establishes the National Policy for Diabetes Prevention and Comprehensive Assistance to Diabetic Persons. [in Portuguese].	http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/_ato2019- 2022/2019/lei/L13895.htm
Cuba	National Diabetes Program [in Spanish].	https://extranet.who.int/ncdccs/Data/CUB_B6_ Programa%20Nacional%20de%20Diabetes%20 Cubapdf
Ecuador	Law 32 for the prevention, protection and comprehensive care of people suffering from diabetes [Spanish]	https://www.salud.gob.ec/wp-content/ uploads/downloads/2014/09/Normativa-Ley- de-Prevenci%C3%B3n-Protecci%C3%B3n-y- Atenci%C3%B3n-de-la-Diabetes.pdf
Mexico	Official Mexican STANDARD NOM- 015-SSA2-2010, For the prevention, treatment and control of diabetes mellitus. [in Spanish].	http://www.dof.gob.mx/normasOficiales/4215/ salud/salud.htm
Peru	(a) Law 28553. General law for the protection of people with diabetes [in Spanish]	(a) https://docs.peru.justia.com/federales/ leyes/28553-jun-17-2005.pdf
	(b) Decree 009-2008-SA. Regulation of the general law for the protection of people with diabetes [in Spanis]	(b) https://www.gob.pe/institucion/minsa/normas- legales/248268-009-2008-sa
United States of America	Healthy People 2030: Diabetes.	https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and- data/browse-objectives/diabetes

National indicators to monitor NCD progress, including for diabetes, are recommended. Twentyfour countries (69%) of the Region reported having a set of national NCD indicators, although only 14 countries noted that diabetes indicators were included. Other than North America and the Southern Cone, which had the highest proportion overall, the proportion of countries that reported establishing NCD indicators was highest in Central America, the Latin Caribbean, and Mexico (67%) followed by, Non-Latin Caribbean region (43%), and Andean Area (40%) (16)

In the case of diabetes risk factor policies/strategies/action plans, 21 (60%) countries reported having policies, strategies, or action plans for overweight and obesity; 14 (40%) had the same resources for reducing physical inactivity and/or promoting physical activity; 17 (49%) had national guidelines recommending levels of physical activity; and 26 (74%) had a policy, strategy, or action plan to decrease tobacco use (16).

#### National guidelines and protocols

Guidelines for diabetes management are key to improving quality of care. Almost all countries in the Americas (34 of 35; 97%) reported the availability of evidence-based national guidelines, protocols, or standards for the management of diabetes that are either fully or partially implemented. However, only 26 countries (26 of 34, 74%) reported the use of guidelines in more than 50% of their health facilities.

#### Availability of essential drugs and basic technologies

Insulin, metformin, and sulfonylureas are the main essential medicines for diabetes treatment. These medicines were generally available in almost all countries of the Region in 50% or more of public sector pharmacies; 35 countries (100%) reported having metformin generally available, 34 (97%) reported having sulfonylureas available, and 32 (91%) reported having insulin available (*16*).

Six basic technologies are recommended for diabetes management and monitoring: equipment for measuring blood glucose, oral glucose tolerance tests, tests to measure glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c), fundus examinations, tuning fork tests to diagnose diabetic foot disease, and urine test strips for glucose and ketone analysis. In the 2021 NCD CCS, only 12 countries (34%) reported having these six basic technologies available in 50% or more of their public health facilities (16).

Also in public health facilities, thirty-three (94%) out of 35 countries reported having blood glucose measurement equipment, and 24 countries (69%) reported having oral glucose tolerance testing, and 20 countries (57%) reported having urine test strips for measuring glucose and ketones. Furthermore, 19 countries (54%) reported the availability of tests for measuring HbA1c. However, only 18 countries (51%) reported having tuning forks to measure sensitivity for diagnosing diabetic foot disease, and ophthalmoscopy equipment and mydriatic drops to perform fundus exams (16).

#### Surveillance and monitoring

Population-based surveys are one of the primary resources for surveillance. Ideally, these surveys should be nationally representative, should be carried out at least every three to five years, and should include physical measurements for biological risk factors such as blood glucose, cholesterol, weight, height, and salt/sodium intake. Regular application of national population surveys with blood glucose measurements allows countries to assess trends and the impact of interventions aimed at preventing and controlling this disease.

Only thirteen out of 35 countries (37%) of the Region reported conducting a national population-based survey involving blood glucose measurement in adults within the last five years (2016 or later) (Argentina, The Bahamas, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Guyana, Jamaica, Mexico, Panama, Saint Lucia, and the United States of America). (16).

Another essential resource for public health surveillance is disease registries. The information derived from diabetes registries can be applied to improve treatment compliance, prevent complications, and assess the clinical outcomes of management. However, only 16 countries (46%) reported having a diabetes registry, of which only five countries were population-based (16).

### DIABETES IN INDIGENOUS POPULATIONS

The Americas is a multicultural and multiethnic region. The wealth delivered by the more than 600 ethnic groups that live in the Region contrasts with the inequalities to which these populations are exposed and that impede, among other aspects, adequate access to health services and affect the quality of care they receive, impacting their living conditions in general (*61, 62*).

Diabetes is a significant global health challenge, and this challenge is more evident in indigenous populations (63). International evidence shows high variability in the prevalence of diabetes in indigenous peoples depending on the country and ethnic group evaluated. In North America, approximately 50% of adults 30–64 years of age who belong to the Pima Indian tribe in Arizona, United States of America, have type 2 diabetes, positioning it as a population with one of the highest rates of diabetes in the world. In addition, the prevalence of diabetes in the indigenous peoples of Canada is between three and five times higher than in the general population, and diabetes is one of the fastest-growing diseases among these individuals. In Latin America, the reported prevalence range is between 3% and 36.5% (*63, 64*).

The variability observed in the prevalence of diabetes in indigenous populations is related to individual risk factors, such as age, family history, sex, and genetics, and structural risk factors such as health systems and poverty. These risk factors must be added to biological and environmental changes and the adoption of unhealthy lifestyles such as smoking, physical inactivity, and unhealthy eating habits characterized by non-traditional indigenous diets rich in sugar, fat, and ultra-processed foods. These factors can also cause complications secondary to diabetes at an earlier age than in the non-indigenous population. In groups that have maintained traditional lifestyles, a lower prevalence is observed than in other indigenous peoples; an example is the Aymaras and Mapuches in Chile, with an age-adjusted prevalence between 1% and 4% (*63, 64*).

The burden of diabetes in indigenous populations highlights the urgent need to improve health and health equity in these groups. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development aims to ensure that no one is left behind (*13*). However, the inequalities faced by indigenous peoples threaten the achievement of this goal. In recent years, PAHO Member States have implemented policies, plans, and programs to reduce inequities, promote social justice, and eliminate barriers to health services these groups face (*62*).

For example, the Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage, approved in 2014, seeks to guarantee that all peoples and communities have access, without any discrimination, to comprehensive, adequate, timely, and quality health services (65). The commitments of this strategy are reinforced in the Policy on ethnicity and health, approved at the 29th Pan American Sanitary Conference, 69th session of the WHO Regional Committee for the Americas, in 2017, in which the Member States agreed to guarantee an intercultural approach to health and the equitable treatment of indigenous peoples, Afro-descendants, Roma individuals, and members of other ethnic groups (61, 66).

## **THE CENTURY OF INSULIN**

The year 2021 marked 100 years since the discovery of insulin, signifying a milestone for humanity and a change for the lives of thousands of people who, until then, were destined for imminent death, preceded by severe complications (5).

Diabetes is characterized by a total or relative deficit of insulin, a hormone that regulates blood glucose levels. When people living with diabetes do not have good metabolic control, they can develop health-threatening complications. These complications significantly increase the mortality, costs, and poor quality of life associated with diabetes (2, 67).

Unfortunately, access is still limited for many people in the world, even though insulin has been on WHO's List of Essential Medicines since it was first published in 1977. Unstable supplies and unaffordable out-of-pocket payments are the main barriers to its use, translating into rationing and use in inappropriate doses that generate complications and premature death (5). Between 2013 and 2021, there was a decrease in the number of countries in the Americas reporting that insulin is generally available. In the 2013 NCD CCS, 31 out of 32 countries (97%) reported having general availability of insulin in the public sector. In 2021, only 32 out of 35 countries (91%) reported availability of insulin.

One hundred years after the discovery of insulin, there is still much to do. Improving access to insulin requires reinforcing national efforts and engaging in collaborations with the pharmaceutical, health technology product, and related private sector industries (5). The WHO Global Diabetes Compact proposes ways that pharmaceutical industries can help, for example by increasing transparency, guaranteeing uninterrupted supplies of human insulin for lower-income countries and humanitarian settings, participating in future procurement mechanisms, and engaging in WHO's prequalification program for insulin (5). A key strategy to increase insulin access is to utilize the PAHO Strategic Fund for Essential Medicines, which offers diabetes medicines, including insulin, for one specified price regardless of purchase size and with assured quality to Member States.

# SUMMARY

The data displayed in this report shows that diabetes represents a genuine health emergency for the Region of the Americas. Although mortality shows a slight increase between 2000 and 2019 at the regional level, there are profound differences between countries. Two aspects need to be highlighted. First, in some countries such as Costa Rica, Honduras, Suriname, and Venezuela, the 2019 ASMR from diabetes shows an accentuated increase concerning 2000. Second, the countries with the highest mortality rates from diabetes remain practically unchanged during the last decade, highlighting Grenada, Guyana, Guatemala, Haiti, Jamaica, Mexico, Trinidad and Tobago, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines.

The increase in the burden of diabetes in the Americas positions it as the eighth leading cause of YLLs, the second leading cause of YLDs, and the fourth leading cause of DALYs in 2019. As with mortality, these three metrics show considerable differences across countries, with the highest rates concentrates in Trinidad and Tobago, Guyana, Suriname, Saint Lucia, Mexico, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines. On the other hand, Uruguay, the United States of America, and the Dominican Republic display the largest differences in the ASYDR between 2000 and 2019.

From 2000 to 2014, all the countries in the Region increased the age-standardized prevalence of raised fasting blood glucose, with the largest increments seen in Antigua and Barbuda, Haiti, Saint Lucia, and Trinidad and Tobago. In line with the marked increase in the prevalence of overweight and obesity, along with the high prevalence of insufficient physical activity in women, the female age-standardized prevalence of raised fasting blood glucose exceeds 10% in more than half of the countries in the Region.

The prevalence of hypertension and tobacco consumption, other major risk factors for diabetes, is high. Because of the close relationship between diabetes and cardiovascular disease -the leading cause of death of people living with diabetes- these results are alarming and suggest that both mortality and disability related to diabetes will continue to increase.

In recent decades, countries have made efforts to halt the rise in diabetes, but the data presented in this report indicate they are still insufficient. The last CCS shows a dramatically low availability of the six basic technologies recommended for diabetes management and monitoring in public health facilities. Three pillars must be strengthened. First, it is imperative to improve the capacity for an early diagnosis of diabetes and diabetes-related complications in the Region. Second, it is urgent to increase the availability and adequate access of the population to quality health care for diabetes, including insulin, other medicines, blood glucose monitoring devices, counseling, and coordinated management of high-risk people.

Primary health care has a fundamental role in meeting these objectives. Solid and timely policies, along with a close intersectoral work represent the third pillar. The countries need to build policies/strategies to enhance healthy lifestyles and nutrition in the population, along with strengthening health education on diabetes prevention and control. A common agenda based on collaborative work between governments, civil society, and people living with diabetes need to be prioritized.

# **FINAL CONSIDERATIONS**

This panorama on diabetes in the Americas presents the status of diabetes in countries in the Region. It highlights the importance of diabetes as a cause of death and disability and illustrates the increasing prevalence of diabetes and related risk factors across the Region. The report notes the extent to which countries in the Region are putting in place national interventions through diabetes policies/strategies/plans, diabetes targets, access to diabetes medicines and technologies, and surveillance. Nonetheless, there is an urgent need to scale up these interventions and improve diabetes prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and surveillance.

The Global Diabetes Compact, launched by WHO in April 2021 and implemented in the Americas by PAHO, provides a framework to address primary prevention, improve the quality of diabetes care, and strengthen monitoring. The ultimate goal is to reduce the risk of diabetes and ensure that all people diagnosed with diabetes have access to quality care and treatment that are equitable, comprehensive, and affordable (*5, 68*).

### REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(suppl 1):S15-33. Available from: https://care.diabetesjournals. org/content/44/Supplement\_1/S15
- 2. World Health Organization. Global report on diabetes. Geneva: WHO; 2016. Available from: https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/9789241565257
- Gallardo-Rincon H, Cantoral A, Arrieta A, Espinal C, Magnus MH, Palacios C, et al. Review: type 2 diabetes in Latin America and the Caribbean: regional and country comparison on prevalence, trends, costs and expanded prevention. Prim Care Diabetes. 2021;15(2):352-9. Available from: https://www.primary-carediabetes.com/article/S1751-9918(20)30286-2/fulltext
- 4. World Health Organization. Global Health Observatory (GHO). Global health estimates: leading causes of DALYs [Internet]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates/global-health-estimates-leading-causes-of-dalys
- 5. World Health Organization. Report of expert and stakeholder consultations on the WHO Global Diabetes Compact. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/340322
- Bommer C, Sagalova V, Heesemann E, Manne-Goehler J, Atun R, Barnighausen T, et al. Global economic burden of diabetes in adults: projections from 2015 to 2030. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(5):963-70. Available from: https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/41/5/963
- Barcelo A, Arredondo A, Gordillo-Tobar A, Segovia J, Qiang A. The cost of diabetes in Latin America and the Caribbean in 2015: evidence for decision and policy makers. J Glob Health. 2017;7(2):020410. Available from: https://jogh.org/documents/issue201702/jogh-07-020410.pdf
- 8. United Nations. Political declaration of the High-level Meeting of the General Assembly on the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases. New York: UN; 2011. Available from: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/710899
- United Nations. Outcome document of the High-level Meeting of the General Assembly on the Comprehensive Review and Assessment of the Progress Achieved in the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases. New York: UN; 2014. Available from: https://digitallibrary.un.org/ record/774662
- 10. United Nations. Political declaration of the third High-level Meeting of the General Assembly on the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases. New York: UN; 2018. Available from: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/1648984
- 11. World Health Organization. Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of NCDs 2013-2020. Geneva: WHO; 2013. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241506236
- 12. Pan American Health Organization. Plan of Action for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases in the Americas 2013-2019. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2014. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/35009
- 13. United Nations. Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development [Internet]. Available from: https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda
- 14. World Health Organization. Global Health Estimates (GHE). Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/global-health-estimates

- 15. World Health Organization. Assessing national capacity for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: report of the 2019 global survey. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240002319
- 16. Pan American Health Organization. Noncommunicable diseases and mental health. Country Capacity Survey Results Tool. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/noncommunicable-diseases-and-mental-health/noncommunicable-diseases-and-mental-health-data-13
- 17. World Health Organization. The top 10 causes of death. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death.
- 18. World Health Organization. Global health estimates: leading causes of death. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates/ghe-leading-causes-of-death
- 19. Pan American Health Organization. Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health Data Portal. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/noncommunicable-diseases-and-mental-health/noncommunicable-diseases-and-mental-health-data-portal
- 20. World Health Organization. Global Health Observatory (GHO). Noncommunicable diseases [Internet]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/noncommunicable-diseases
- 21. World Health Organization (WHO). Noncommunicable Diseases Global Monitoring Framework: Indicator Definitions and Specifications. Geneva: WHO; 2014. Available from: https://www.who.int/nmh/ncd-tools/ indicators/GMF\_Indicator\_Definitions\_Version\_NOV2014.pdf
- 22. World Health Organization. Global Health Observatory. Indicator Metadata Registry List [Internet]. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/indicator-metadata-registry
- 23. World Health Organization. Global Health Observatory. Noncommunicable diseases: risk factors. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/noncommunicable-diseases-risk-factors
- 24. Pan American Health Organization. NCDs at a glance: NCD mortality and risk factor prevalence in the Americas [Internet]. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/51696.
- World Health Organization. WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic 2021: addressing new and emerging products. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240032095
- 26. World Health Organization. WHO global report on trends in prevalence of tobacco use 2000-2025, third edition. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-global-report-on-trends-in-prevalence-of-tobacco-use-2000-2025-third-edition
- 27. Fowler MJ. Microvascular and macrovascular complications of diabetes. Clin Diabetes. 2008;26(2):77-82. Available from: https://clinical.diabetesjournals.org/content/26/2/77
- 28. United Nations. Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Available from: https://sdgs.un.org/goals
- 29. Ting DS, Cheung GC, Wong TY. Diabetic retinopathy: global prevalence, major risk factors, screening practices and public health challenges: a review. Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2016;44(4):260-77. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ceo.12696
- American Diabetes Association. Microvascular complications and foot care: standards of medical care in diabetes—2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(suppl 1):S151-67. Available from: https://care.diabetesjournals. org/content/44/Supplement\_1/S151

- Yau JW, Rogers SL, Kawasaki R, Lamoureux EL, Kowalski JW, Bek T, et al. Global prevalence and major risk factors of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(3):556-64. Available from: https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/35/3/556.long
- 32. West SK, Klein R, Rodriguez J, Munoz B, Broman AT, Sanchez R, et al. Diabetes and diabetic retinopathy in a Mexican-American population: Proyecto VER. Diabetes Care. 2001;24(7):1204-9. Available from: https://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/24/7/1204.long
- 33. United States Renal Data System (USRD). 2020 USRDS annual data report: epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. Bethesda, Md.; National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2020. Available from: https://adr.usrds.org/2020/
- 34. Chan JCN, Lim LL, Wareham NJ, Shaw JE, Orchard TJ, Zhang P, et al. The Lancet Commission on Dlabetes: using data to transform diabetes care and patient lives. Lancet. 2021;396(10267):2019-82. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)32374-6/fulltext
- 35. Dorresteijn JA, Kriegsman DM, Assendelft WJ, Valk GD. Patient education for preventing diabetic foot ulceration. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010(5):CD001488. Available from: https://www.cochranelibrary. com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD001488.pub3/full
- 36. Lacle A, Valero-Juan LF. Diabetes-related lower-extremity amputation incidence and risk factors: a prospective seven-year study in Costa Rica. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2012;32(3):192-8. Available from: https://scielosp.org/article/rpsp/2012.v32n3/192-198/en/
- 37. Gulliford MC, Mahabir D. Diabetic foot disease and foot care in a Caribbean community. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2002;56(1):35-40. Available from: https://www.diabetesresearchclinicalpractice.com/article/ S0168-8227(01)00343-6/fulltext
- American Diabetes Association. Cardiovascular disease and risk management: standards of medical care in diabetes—2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(suppl 1):S125-50. Available from: https://care. diabetesjournals.org/content/44/Supplement\_1/S125
- Leon BM, Maddox TM. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: epidemiology, biological mechanisms, treatment recommendations and future research. World J Diabetes. 2015;6(13):1246-58. Available from: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-9358/full/v6/i13/1246.htm
- 40. Siqueira C, de Souza DLB. Reduction of mortality and predictions for acute myocardial infarction, stroke, and heart failure in Brazil until 2030. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):17856. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-020-73070-8#citeas
- 41. Alegre-Diaz J, Herrington W, Lopez-Cervantes M, Gnatiuc L, Ramirez R, Hill M, et al. Diabetes and causespecific mortality in Mexico City. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(20):1961-71. Available from: https://www.nejm. org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1605368
- Tapia-Conyer R, Alegre-Diaz J, Gnatiuc L, Wade R, Ramirez-Reyes R, Herrington WG, et al. Association of blood pressure with cause-specific mortality in Mexican adults. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(9):e2018141. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2770957
- Armas Rojas NB, Lacey B, Soni M, Charles S, Carter J, Varona-Perez P, et al. Body-mass index, blood pressure, diabetes and cardiovascular mortality in Cuba: prospective study of 146,556 participants. BMC Public Health. 2021;21(1):963. Available from: https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/ articles/10.1186/s12889-021-10911-9
- 44. Lanas F, Avezum A, Bautista LE, Diaz R, Luna M, Islam S, et al. Risk factors for acute myocardial infarction in Latin America: the INTERHEART Latin American study. Circulation. 2007;115(9):1067-74. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/full/10.1161/circulationaha.106.633552

- 45. NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, Americas Working Group. Trends in cardiometabolic risk factors in the Americas between 1980 and 2014: a pooled analysis of population-based surveys. Lancet Glob Health. 2020;8(1):e123-33. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214-109X(19)30484-X/fulltext
- 46. World Health Organization. WHO package of essential noncommunicable (PEN) disease interventions for primary health care. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-package-of-essential-noncommunicable-(pen)-disease-interventions-for-primary-health-care
- 47. World Health Organization. HEARTS Technical Package. Geneva: WHO; 2018. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/hearts-technical-package
- 48. World Health Organization. HEARTS D: diagnosis and management of type 2 diabetes. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-ucn-ncd-20.1
- 49. Baker MA, Harries AD, Jeon CY, Hart JE, Kapur A, Lonnroth K, et al. The impact of diabetes on tuberculosis treatment outcomes: a systematic review. BMC Med. 2011;9:81. Available from: https://bmcmedicine.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1741-7015-9-81
- 50. Lee MR, Huang YP, Kuo YT, Luo CH, Shih YJ, Shu CC, et al. Diabetes mellitus and latent tuberculosis infection: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;64(6):719-27. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/64/6/719/2698892
- 51. World Health Organization. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240013131
- 52. World Health Organization. Collaborative framework for care and control of tuberculosis and diabetes. Geneva: WHO; 2011. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44698
- 53. Pan American Health Organization. Tuberculosis in the Americas. 2019 Regional Report. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/55194
- 54. Muniangi-Muhitu H, Akalestou E, Salem V, Misra S, Oliver NS, Rutter GA. Covid-19 and diabetes: a complex bidirectional relationship. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:582936. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2020.582936/full
- 55. Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention. Science brief: evidence used to update the list of underlying medical conditions that increase a person's risk of severe illness from COVID-19. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/science/science-briefs/underlying-evidence-table.html
- 56. Kumar A, Arora A, Sharma P, Anikhindi SA, Bansal N, Singla V, et al. Is diabetes mellitus associated with mortality and severity of COVID-19? A meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2020;14(4):535-45. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1871402120301090?via=ihub
- 57. Jeong IK, Yoon KH, Lee MK. Diabetes and COVID-19: global and regional perspectives. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2020;166:108303. Available from : https://www.diabetesresearchclinicalpractice.com/article/ S0168-8227(20)30555-6/fulltext
- 58. Zhu L, She ZG, Cheng X, Qin JJ, Zhang XJ, Cai J, et al. Association of blood glucose control and outcomes in patients with COVID-19 and pre-existing type 2 diabetes. Cell Metab. 2020;31(6):1068-77.e3. Available from: https://www.cell.com/cell-metabolism/ fulltext/S1550-4131(20)30238-2?\_returnURL=https%3A%2F%2Flinkinghub.elsevier. com%2Fretrieve%2Fpii%2FS1550413120302382%3Fshowall=true
- 59. World Health Organization. Second round of the national pulse survey on continuity of essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic: January-March 2021: interim report, 22 April 2021. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-EHS-continuitysurvey-2021.1

- 60. Pan American Health Organization. Rapid assessment of service delivery for NCDs during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Americas, 4 June 2020. Washington DC; PAHO: 2020. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52250
- 61. Pan American Health Organization. Strategy and Plan of Action on Ethnicity and Health 2019-2025. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2019. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/51744
- 62. Pan American Health Organization. Health of the indigenous peoples of the Americas. Evaluation of health achievements within the framework of the international decade of the world's indigenous peoples. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2008. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/health-indigenous-peoples-americas
- 63. Harris SB, Tompkins JW, TeHiwi B. Call to action: a new path for improving diabetes care for indigenous peoples, a global review. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2017;123:120-33. Available from: https://www. diabetesresearchclinicalpractice.com/article/S0168-8227(16)30246-7/fulltext
- 64. Aviles-Santa ML, Monroig-Rivera A, Soto-Soto A, Lindberg NM. Current state of diabetes mellitus prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control in Latin America: challenges and innovative solutions to improve health outcomes across the continent. Curr Diab Rep. 2020;20(11):62. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11892-020-01341-9
- 65. Pan American Health Organization. Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage. Toward consensus in the Region of the Americas. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2014. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/documents/brochure-strategy-universal-access-health-and-universalhealth-coverage-toward-consensus
- 66. Pan American Health Organization. Policy on ethnicity and health. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2017. Available from: https://www3.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com\_docman&view=download&category\_slug=paho-who-mandates-strategies-6353&alias=47099-policy-on-ethnicity-and-health&Itemid=270&lang=en
- 67. World Health Organization. Insulin and associated devices: access for everybody. WHO stakeholder workshop, 21 and 23-25 September 2020. Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available from:\_https://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/handle/10665/336609/9789240015180-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 68. Pan American Health Organization. The Global Diabetes Compact. Implementation in the Region of the Americas. Washington, DC: PAHO; 2021. Available from: https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/ handle/10665.2/54683/PAHONMHNV210017\_eng.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y



**Annex 1.** Prevalence of raised fasting blood glucose/diabetes among adults 18+ years, age-standardized, by sex. Trends 1980–2025. Region of the Americas.































































*Note:* The 2014–2025 projections were calculated using exponential regression, with United Nations population projections for adults aged 20 years and over.

Source: World Health Organization. WHO Global Health Observatory. Available from: https://www.who.int/data/gho

The burden of diabetes is enormous, positioning it as one of the main challenges facing public health today. Currently, it is estimated that 62 million people are living with diabetes in the Region of the Americas and projections show its prevalence will continue rising over the following years. The Region shows the highest number of years of healthy life lost (through either disability or premature death) due to diabetes worldwide. The high costs associated with its treatment produce a heavy economic burden. Its complications can seriously affect the quality of life of people living with diabetes, their families, and society and overload health systems.

This report shows the latest internationally comparable data on diabetes and its main risk factors by year, country, and sex. It also includes a summary of the countries health systems' response to diabetes, including national plans, targets, surveillance, guidelines, and access to essential drugs and technologies, and synthesizes information about diabetes-related complications and the close relationship between diabetes and other pathologies, such as cardiovascular diseases, tuberculosis, and COVID-19. The data presented here reveal that, despite advances in national responses, diabetes continues to expand, and our response remains insufficient. This report aims to draw attention to the urgent need to strengthen efforts to prevent, diagnose, and control diabetes in the Region of the Americas.



n World Health Organization Americas

